UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

MICHAEL W. KENNEDY,
Haintiff

V. : Civil Action No.
3:02CV 1754 (CFD)
BMW FINANCIAL SERVICES, N.A.,
Defendant

RULING ON MOTION TO DISMISS

The plaintiff brought this action dleging violations of the Consumer Leasing Act, 15U.SC. §
1667 et seg., the Motor Vehicle Information and Cost Saving Act (the “Odometer Act”), 49 U.SC. 8§
32701 et seg., and the Connecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act (“CUTPA”), Conn. Gen. Stat. 42-110a
€t seg., seeking declaratory and injunctiverdief.  The defendant has moved to dismiss the plaintiff’s
complaint [Doc. #13] and amended complaint [Doc. #17].

l. Background?!

Some time before February 28, 2000, BMW Financid ServicesNA, LLC (“BMW”) was
assigned amotor vehicle lease agreement for a 1999 BMW Modd 328 by the original lessor, acar
dedership. The origind lesseeswere Michael C. and Michadl P. lannuzzi (“the lannuzzis’). On
February 28, 2000, the plaintiff, Michad W. Kennedy (“Kennedy”) assumed the lannuzzis's
obligations under the lease.

Kennedy allegesthat the origina lease agreement contained certain inaccurate disclosures

1The dlegations are taken from the plaintiff’s amended complaint.
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regarding fees and other information. Additiondly, Kennedy clamsthat BMW failed to obtain, and
provide Kennedy with, an odometer statement from the lannuzzis. BMW' s actions, according to
Kennedy, violated the Consumer Leasing Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1667 &t seq., the Motor Vehicle
Information and Cost Saving Act, 49 U.S.C. § 32701 &t seg., and Connecticut’s CUTPA provisions,
Conn. Gen. Stat. 42-110a &t seqg.

BMW has moved to dismiss Kennedy’s amended complaint on the following bases. (1) BMW,
as the assignee of the motor vehicle lease from the dealer, cannot be held liable for the deder’s
inaccurate disclosures unless the violation is gpparent on the face of the lease documents; (2) Kennedy
isnot a“transfereg’ entitled to an odometer disclosure; and (3) Kennedy’s CUTPA clam mugt fall
becauise mere contract breaches do not violate CUTPA.

. Motion to Dismiss Standard

When considering a Rule 12(b)(6) mation to dismiss, the Court accepts as true dl factua

dlegationsin the complaint and draws inferences from these dlegations in the light most favorable to the

plantiff. See Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 236 (1974), overruled on other grounds, Davisv.

Scherer, 468 U.S. 183 (1984); Eagton v. Sundram, 947 F.2d 1011, 1014-15 (2d Cir. 1991), cert.
denied, 504 U.S. 911 (1992). Dismissal iswarranted only if, under any set of facts that the plaintiff can

prove consstent with the dlegations, it is clear that no relief can be granted. See Hishonv. King &

Spdding, 467 U.S. 69, 73 (1984); Fraser v. Genera Elec. Co., 930 F.2d 1004, 1007 (2d Cir. 1991).

“Theissue on amoation to dismissis not whether the plaintiff will prevail, but whether the plaintiff is

entitled to offer evidence to support hisor her cdams” United Statesv. Yae-New Haven Hosp., 727

F. Supp. 784, 786 (D. Conn. 1990) (citing Scheuer, 416 U.S. a 232). Thus, amotion to dismiss



under 12(b)(6) should not be granted “ unless it gppears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set

of factsin support of his dam which would entitle him to rdlief.”  Sheppard v. Beerman, 18 F.3d 147,

150 (2d Cir. 1994) (citations and interna quotations omitted), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 816 (1994). In
its review of a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, the Court may consder “only the facts aleged in the
pleadings, documents attached as exhibits or incorporated by reference in the pleadings and matters of

which judicid notice may betaken.” Samuelsv. Air Transport Loca 504, 992 F.2d 12, 15 (2d Cir.

1993).
IIl.  Discussion

A. Consumer Leasing Act Claim (Count One)

The Consumer Leasing Act (“CLA”) was enacted in 1976 as an amendment to the Truth in
Lending Act (“TILA"), 15U.S.C. § 1601. It extended TILA's credit disclosure requirements to
consumer leases and its primary purpose isto "assure ameaningful disclosure of the terms of leases ...
S0 as to enable the lessee to compare more readily the various lease terms available to him." 15 U.S.C.
8§ 1601(b). Because lease financing had become an dternative to credit financing and installment sales
contracts, Congress also intended CLA disclosure requirements to "enable comparison of lease terms
with credit terms where gppropriate.” 1d. The CLA thus requires lessors of personal property subject
to its provisions to make certain disclosures upon entering into alease? See 15 U.S.C. § 1667a

(consumer lease disclosures).

2The CLA agppliesto dl leases for the use of "persond property” having a term "exceeding four
months' that have a"total contractual obligation not exceeding $25,000." 15 U.S.C. § 1667(1).
Neither party disputes that the CLA appliesto Kennedy’s lease.
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The CLA imposes liability upon a*“lessor” for fallure to disclose certain information in aclear
and conspicuous manner, as required by section 1667a. 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1667d. Section 1667(3) defines
“lessor” as “aperson who is regularly engaged in leasing, offering to lease, or arranging to lease under a
consumer lease.” 15 U.S.C. §1667(3). Under 15 U.S.C. § 1667f, the Board of Governors of the
Federa Reserve System has promulgated regulations to implement the CLA - Regulation M. The
Officid Staff Commentary to Regulation M, 12 C.F.R. Pt. 213.2-2(h)(3) providesthat “[a]n assgnee
may be alessor for purposes of the regulation in circumstances where the assignee has substantia

involvement in the lease transaction.” (citing Ford Motor Credit Co. v. Cenance, 452 U.S. 155

(1981)). While TILA expredy limitsthe ligbility of “assignees’ to adisclosure violation thet is
“apparent on the face of the disclosure statement,” see 15 U.S.C. § 1641(a), the CLA does not
expressly address assignee liability. Nor has the Second Circuit spoken on thisissue.

In the ingtant case, BMW' s status as an “assignee’ or “lessor” and the corresponding scope of
liahility cannot be decided merdly by reference to the amended complaint. Accordingly, the

defendant’ s motion to dismiss as to Count One is DENIED.

B. Motor Vehicle Information and Cost Saving Act (Count Two)
Chapter 327 of the Motor Vehicle Information and Cost Saving Act is known asthe

“Odometer Act.” It providesthat “a person transferring ownership of amotor vehicle shdl give the

SHowever, it gppears that BMW holdsitsdlf out to be the “Lessor” in the Transfer of Interest
and Assumption of Obligation under Motor Vehicle Lease Agreement, Exhibit 1, Plaintiff’s Objection
to Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss.



transfereg’ certain written disclosures, 49 U.S.C. § 32705(a), and its purpose is “to protect purchasers
in the sdle of motor vehicleswith dtered or reset odometers.” 49 U.S.C. § 32701(b). The Act
provides that “[f]or aleased motor vehicle, the regulations prescribed under subsection (a) of this
section shal require written disclosure about mileage to be made by the lessee to the

lessor when the lessor transfers ownership of that vehicle” 49 U.S.C. § 32705(c)(1) (emphasis
added). If the lessor subsequently transfers ownership of the vehicle, he must provide the lessee's
mileage statement to the buyer. See 49 U.S.C. 88 32705(a) and (c)(4). The Act defines “transfer” as
“to change ownership by sde, gift, or any other means.” 49 U.S.C. 8 32702(8). If the transferor, with
intent to defraud, fails to comply with these requirements, the transferor is subject to suit by the

transferee and may be liable for treble damages or $1,500, whichever is greater. 49 U.S.C. § 32710.

The Court concludes that Kennedy cannot maintain his Odometer Act claim agains BMW
because, according to the amended complaint, BMW never transferred ownership of the vehicleto
Kennedy. The Federa Odometer Act, by its express language, gpplies only to changes in ownership
under these circumstances. See 49 U.S.C. § 32705(c)(1), 8 32702(8). The implementing regulations
aso indicate such:

Transferee means any person to whom ownership of amotor vehicle is transferred, by

purchase, gift, or any means other than by the creation of a security interest . . . .

Transferor means any person who transfers his ownership of amotor vehicle by sde, gift, or

any means other than by the creation of a security interest . . . .

49 C.F.R. 8§580.3. Accordingly, the Court concludes that the Odometer Act requires atransfer of the

legal ownership from alessor before its disclosure requirements are triggered. See Francesconi V.



Kardon Chevrolet, Inc., 703 F. Supp. 1154, 1156-60 (D.N.J. 1988) (“It is clear from the language of

the statute that the Act contemplates the transfer of legal ownership from one person to another.”),

aff’d on other grounds, 888 F.2d 18 (3d Cir. 1989). Here, the vehicle was leased to Kennedy but, at

al times, was owned by BMW. Accordingly, Count Two failsto state a clam and defendant’ s motion

to dismiss asto Count Two is GRANTED.

C. CUTPA Claim (Count Three)
The Court concludes that the alegations of Count Three are sufficient to Sate aclam at this

time. Accordingly, defendant’s motion to dismiss asto Count Three is DENIED.

V.  Concluson

For the foregoing reasons, the defendant’s motion to dismiss the amended complaint [Doc.
#17] isGRANTED in part and DENIED in part. The motion to dismissthe origina complaint [Doc.
#13] isDENIED AS MOQT.

SO ORDERED this____ day of October 2003, at Hartford, Connecticuit.

CHRISTOPHER F. DRONEY
UNITED STATESDISTRICT JUDGE



